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1. SCOPE OF WORK 
 

1.1 DISCLAIMER 
This report has been made in good faith for the purpose of informing the residents of Auroville and the general public 
for the sole purpose of allowing them to make an informed decision on the Crown Road Project. The author believes 
it to be within the realm of his duty as an architect and engineer, as the project is within the city of Auroville, where 
he is a member of the Resident's Assembly, and to whose development he has dedicated his life and work for 33.5 
years. While the report raises many questions as to the veracity, integrity and the technical standards of the said 
project, it has not been written with the objective of discrediting any individual person, institution, or company. 

1.2 BACKGROUND 
The Crown Road (CR) is part of the Master Plan of Auroville, the International city under construction in South India. 
The first draft of the Master Plan was prepared in 1999. However, the second version of the Master Plan which was 
approved by the Ministry of Human Resource Development (MHRD), Government of India on 12th April 2001 was 
based on the document “Auroville Universal Township Master Plan (Perspective 2025)”. Much later, the MHRD 
gazetted the Master Plan on 16th August 2010. 

About one third of the Crown Road (1,423 m long x 4.5 m & 7.5 m wide) has been built by the Auroville Road Service 
between 2008 and 2012 with funds from the Government of India (GoI). In June 2022, under the directive of the 
secretary of the Auroville Foundation (AVFO), Dr Jayanti Ravi, the Central Public Work Department (CPWD) was 
contracted to build 2 km of the CR, to be paved with concrete paver blocks. CPWD did a tender and contracted “SP 
& Co”, Karuvampalayam, Tirupur who won the bid for 9.7315 Crores Rs. 

In July 2022, the Auroville Town Development Council (JR’s ATDC) appointed by the secretary of the AVFO ordered 
the destruction of the pavement of the CR built by the Road Service. To date, the contractor has destroyed the entire 
CR of 1,423 m built by the Road Service, which was in very good condition and did not need to be dismantled. 

As the work done by “SP & Co” for the CR did not appear to follow the best practices, the Town Development Council 
selected by the Residents' Assembly asked the author to prepare an evaluation report on the road construction and 
a comparative study on the quality of pavers in August 2022. For more details, please see the 42-page report of 
August 2022 “Crown Road evaluation”. 

During these last 8 months, the contractor “SP & Co” started the construction of only a few hundred meters of the 
CR and did not complete anything. During this period, the JR’s ATDC changed their design and specifications several 
times, and the materials which had been supplied were rejected for being poor in quality and thus not used as well 
as removing what was already laid, which implied a lot of wastage of materials and money, and delays. 

1.3 CHANGE OF SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE CROWN ROAD 
End of 2022, the Auroville Town Development Council appointed by the secretary changed their design yet again, 
and requested the CPWD to use precast reinforced concrete (RCC) slabs for the pavement of the Crown Road. Thus, 
the CPWD issued another tender (NIT) for a maximum cost of 13,54,59,248 Rs. with a completion time of only 3 
months for a 2.1 km road. This NIT was published on 12th January 2023, asking for bids not later than 21st January.  

1.4 SCOPE OF THE TECHNICAL REPORT 
As a follow-up of the report done last August, “Crown Road evaluation”, it appeared necessary to prepare this 
additional technical report because the new specifications for a road with precast reinforced concrete slabs do not 
follow any codes of the Indian Road Congress. Moreover, the new design proposed is not technically sound and uses 
a technology that is not at all sustainable, and which cannot insure the durability of the road. Furthermore, while 
conducting this study, it appeared that neither the JR’s ATDC nor the CPWD have properly studied environmental 
aspects such as stormwater management and many other necessary aspects. 

Please note that this report has been checked and augmented by two road engineers, who have a long experience in 
road designing and making: Mr. Dirk Nagelschmidt, a German road engineer and Mr. Christian Mabilat (Cristo), a 
French civil engineer. They were responsible for the study of the entire crown road, which was entrusted to them by 
the then ATDC in 2012. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1FmfEZ6XS3R7Wi4W3rILhnrr7t5arwOPr/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1FmfEZ6XS3R7Wi4W3rILhnrr7t5arwOPr/view?usp=sharing
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2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

2.1 CONTEXTUAL FACTS 
Non-compliance with Indian standards 
The new road surfacing design approved by the Auroville Town Development Council appointed by the secretary for 
the surfacing of this road does not follow any Indian standard. Consequently, none of the technical specifications 
given by the CPWD has any precedence to ensure safety or durability. See next section 3.2 on page 6 for more 
details. 

Furthermore, there are no European or American standards for surfacing done with precast RCC slabs. Therefore, 
the allocation of 13.546 Crores Rs., funded by the Government of India, is questionable since no expert evaluation 
based on technical report was done to support the deviation from the established codes of the Indian Road Congress. 

New work started before the selection of the bidder? 
The CPWD published a new tender on 12th January 2023, asking for bids not later than 21st January 23 with a 
completion time of only 3 months for 2.1 kms of the road. However, the first pieces of the new design for the double 
chamber U channel from CPWD were delivered on site, on 28th January 2023. Totally, 540 U channels were delivered 
to date. The first 4 rectangular RCC slabs for the pavement were delivered on 9th February and till date only 13 sets 
of slabs have been delivered. One set is composed of 1 rectangular slab and 2 “triangular” slabs. These pieces are 
precast by “VME Precast Private Limited”, Mogappair West, Chennai 600126. 

Therefore, one can wonder how these pieces could have been made ready so quickly, especially if the contract was 
to be given only after the 21st January 2023 to any bidder. Any RCC member needs to be cured for 4 weeks before 
being moved. Furthermore, the time needed for precasting so many pieces must be added to these 4 weeks. 

Thus, it is obvious that the contract to cast these elements had been awarded long before the new tender was 
published, and a new contract allocated, which is a clear legal violation. Had the initial contract with “SP & Co” 
been amended, or has there been a new contract without any tendering process? 

Furthermore, the CPWD has set a completion time of only 3 months. How can any contractor precast the components 
of such a road and build 2.1 km in 3 months? Is this time frame given because a member of the secretary’s ATDC 
publicly announced in an on-camera meeting on 24th January that this road would be completed by 1st April 2023, 
just at the end of the financial year? Could the secretary get a utilisation certificate on 1st April 2023 for a road which 
could be completed only months after 31st march 2023? 

Obviously, it will be impossible to complete the 2.1 km of road within even 3 months because of the delivery rate of 
the slabs, which has been an average of 0.65 sets per day: to date, only 13 sets were delivered in 20 days. 
Therefore, only delivering the slabs would need 894 days = 2.9 years at 26 days worked per month. 

“Management” of the crown road project 
The management of the Crown Road project done by the Auroville Town Development Council appointed by the 
secretary has been handled in a very unprofessional manner from its very onset. The secretary’s ATDC ordered the 
removal of all the pavers blocks and kerbs of the exiting road, arguing that “they wanted a better grade of blocks and 
that the thickness was not matching”. This statement was proven to be totally wrong because the older blocks done 
by the Road Service were 14% stronger and 4 mm thicker than the ones delivered initially, which was consequently 
better for heavy traffic.  

The evaluation of the existing road, mentioned in the “Crown Road evaluation” of August 2022 showed that it was 
still in good condition after 10 and 14 years. Nevertheless, the secretary’s ATDC ordered the removal of all the paver 
blocks and sub surface of gravel and river sand. These materials were usable and in perfect condition, but were 
instead declared as waste material. They were neither recorded nor stored in an appropriate place. Gravel and river 
sand mysteriously disappeared. Who took the equivalent monetary value of these materials? 

This is a huge financial loss of government funds worth ~97.78 Lakhs Rs. 

This financial loss incurred from indiscriminately using tax payer’s money is a wastage which could have been utilised 
for education infrastructure instead of a non-priority road. Furthermore, as the old road was financed by the 
Government of India, was it not necessary to obtain government approval for its destruction beforehand?  

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1FmfEZ6XS3R7Wi4W3rILhnrr7t5arwOPr/view?usp=sharing
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Residents had resolved to pause the Crown Road construction, through a Resident Assembly resolution in December 
2021, until proper plans were made. But the AVFO ignored this resolution, ignored the NGT verdict of April 2022 and 
went ahead destroying roads, cutting trees, and still not building anything in 8 months. 

Regarding the contract given to “SP & Co”, JR’s ATDC ordered the first paver blocks without checking their quality. 
After delivery, they appeared to be substandard and thus were rejected. 
How has the loss incurred by this order been justified in the project budget? 

The second batch of paver blocks was marginally better, but still of a lower quality compared to those done by the 
Road Service in 2008. “SP & Co” laid about 200 m of the second batch of paver blocks, but they were so badly laid 
that they had to remove all of them. All these blocks were rejected, again incurring a loss due to the technical 
incapacity of the JR’s ATDC members, appointed by the secretary. 

Finally, the secretary’s ATDC changed their mind again and opted for these precast RCC slabs, which do not comply 
to any standard, Indian or globally. Furthermore, as the new road is now 7 m wide instead of 6.7 m, the sub base 
and kerbs which were laid for a few hundred meters of road will have to be broken, thus adding to the loss of funds. 

Neither the CPWD nor the secretary’s ATDC are abiding to the National Green Tribunal (NGT) given in April 2022. One 
of the points of the tribunal was “AVFO is directed not to cut any further trees from the property”. Despite this 
judgment, the AVFO and CPWD ignored the verdict and many trees were cut or unrooted after April 2022. 

Additionally, neither the JR’s ATDC nor the CPWD have studied the stormwater management. No plans have been 
communicated for this and apparently, they have not planned any percolation systems along the crown, which is the 
best way to deal with stormwater in the climate of Auroville. The slope of the road is 0.144% near the Humanscape, 
which is 694% smaller than the minimum standard of 1%. They did not conduct an environmental assessment either, 
as it seems that they plan to fill a canyon in Darkali, which harvests a lot of rainfall. 

Carbon emissions 
Replacing the perfectly fine road which was built with paver blocks, with precast RCC has a very negative 
environmental impact: The new design with RCC precast slabs emits 6,630 Tons of CO2, which represents 952% 
more carbon emissions than the road planned with paver blocks. Sequestering these 6,630 tons of CO2, would 
need 20 years by an additional forest of 32 hectares, planted with 1,000 trees per hectare. 

“Misappropriation” of funds? 
It appears that a lot of materials which were paid for by the GoI for the Crown Road are being used for other works 
which are not in any contract with the CPWD. Was there any government approval first which authorised using 
materials funded by the Government of India to build the Crown Road, for a non-governmental project, even 
temporary, like in the case of a pathway in Matrimandir? See section 7, on pages 19 to 20. 

Crown road at Darkali and private lands 
The JR’s ATDC and the AVFO spreads the false narrative that the stewards of Darkali do not want the crown road and 
have developed the park against the Galaxy concept. Section 8, pages 21 to 23 and annex 11.4, page 30 and 31 
prove the contrary. For more than 35 years these stewards have developed this park in accordance to agreements 
with Roger Anger and asked for regular guidance from the various town planning groups. 
 
Technical study of the crown by Dirk Nagelschmidt in 2012 
Mr. Dirk Nagelschmidt, a German road engineer and Mr. Christian Mabilat (Cristo), a French road engineer did an 
excellent study of the crown road in 2012, at the request of the then ATDC group: 2012 Report on Crown Road.  
Why did the secretary’s ATDC not use this report for building the crown road? 

2.2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
Two audits should be done for this work: a financial one and a technical one. The technical committee should be 
constituted of independent road experts from private and public sectors, and it should review both the JR’s ATDC 
proposal and the various reports done by the author. Furthermore, an environmental impact assessment must be 
done. Therefore, for the time being, to avoid further misappropriation of funds and mistakes, the road construction 
should be stopped until these are done.  

https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B6HQQy2nj0zUUFE0MnVpYlNuWkU/view?usp=sharing&resourcekey=0-yuFfchonQwGsJAmgSOT71w
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3. NEW SPECIFICATIONS NOT FOLLOWING ANY INDIAN STANDARDS 
 
The CPWD mentioned the new work to be done as follows: 
“Construction of Crown Road (Phase-I) for two Kilometre and enabling works like Soil Investigation, Precast Storm 
water Drain and trenches.SH: Providing precast concrete pavement for 2.1 Km over existing wet mixed macadam.” 

3.1 NEW SPECIFICATIONS FROM CPWD 
Among the specifications of the new tender, mentioned on page 36 in the chapter “6. Particular specifications & 
special conditions (civil)”, it is worth noting these two specifications for these precast RCC slabs: 
1.2.  Detail Architectural drawings of Precast RCC Pavement have been attached. The Agency has to get the 

Structural Design as per Architectural Drawings and get it vetted from IIT Madras/Any other IIT/Any other NIT. 
The Thickness of Precast RCC Pavement has to be a minimum of 200 mm. 

1.5. The design mix has to be approved by the Engineer-in-charge before the start of work. 

=> Did IIT Madras vet the new system of precast RCC slabs? 
=> Did the engineer-in-charge approve the concrete design mix before starting the work (precasting items), as the 

precasting was started before the publication of the NIT? 
=> Do the precast slabs have the necessary roughness factor which is required for road construction? 
=> How will the CPWD install the 2.5 and 7.5 Tons slabs without proper steel hooks? 
=> Joints are not considered. The crown road is curved, but the slabs are quadrangular. How will they deal with this? 

3.2 NO INDIAN STANDARDS FOR PAVEMENT WITH RCC SLABS  
The Indian Road Congress (IRC) is the Indian agency defining standards for road construction. IRC has published 
over 300 standards, which can be looked at in this list of IRC publications. None of these standards are about precast 
reinforced concrete slabs for pavement. Nevertheless, as some standards refer to concrete roads and pavements, 
the following standards have been examined thoroughly to check if anything was mentioned about precast reinforced 
concrete slab for pavement.: 
IRC 2013 – Specifications for road and bridge works (5th revision), 884 pages 
IRC 015-2011 – Standard specifications & code of practice for construction of concrete roads (4th revision), 93 pages 
IRC 015-2017 – Construction of Jointed Plain Concrete Pavements (5th revision), 86 pages 
IRC 044-2017 – Cement Concrete mix Design for Pavements (3rd revision), 54 pages 
IRC0 58-2002 – Guidelines for design of plain jointed rigid pavements for highways, 68 pages 
IRC 118-2015 – Guidelines for Design and Construction of Continuously Reinforced Concrete Pavement (CRCP), 22 pages 
These 6 standards, with a total of 1207 pages, do not mention anything about precast RCC slabs for pavement. 

3.3 NEW ROAD SECTION 
The width of this road is now 7 m (Figure 1), while the previous one was 6.7 m (Figure 2 on next page). As the sub 
base and kerbs were laid for a few hundred meters of road, it means that whatever has been done will have to be 
broken or modified, thus implying additional costs to the new contract. 
It is important to note that the trees on the right side of the road are missing, though they were in the original design. 

 
Fig. 1: New road section, 7 m wide  

https://law.resource.org/pub/in/bis/manifest.irc.html
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4. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 

4.1 SLOPES ARE NOT COMPLYING TO STANDARDS 
The figure of the section on the previous page contains several major mistakes: 
1. The cross slope of 2% is not enough: “IRC 2013 – Specifications for road and bridge works” requires 2.5%. 

Especially because of the heavy monsoon climate of Auroville, with occasional extreme rainfall (84.2 mm in half 
an hour), a 2% slope will not drain such stormwater properly. The same mistake was also done in the previous 
section followed by “SP & Co”, in Figure 2 below. 

 
Fig. 2: Old section of the Crown Road designed by JR’s ATDC with paver blocks, 6.7 m wide, as started by “SP & Co” 

Figure 2 above shows the old road section of 6.7 m as that was started by “SP & Co”. A single chamber U channel 
was planned for the infrastructure. Figure 5, on page 9, shows that all the kerbs laid by “SP & Co” were removed 
(wasted) to lay the new double chambers. 

Note that the section shown above in Figure 2 shows the inner side of the road on the left side, when the section 
in Figure 1, on page 6 shows it on the right side. 

2. The longitudinal slope of the road being built has been checked for the three portions already laid. It is always 
much lower than the minimum standard of 1%. However, this minimum requirement for the longitudinal slope of 
a road is rather recommended to be 1.5%. Therefore, this road does not satisfy any standard, at the slope varies 
from a minimum of 0.088% to averages of 0.144%, 0.234% and 0.813%, which are up to 694% smaller than 
the minimum standard of 1%. See table in Annex 11.3, on page 28 and 29. 

Obviously, this road will be flooded, as well as the surrounding areas. 

3. The stormwater channel must not be covered by perforated slabs, which 
will not allow proper drainage: Instead, the stormwater should be covered 
with cast iron grills, in order to be accessible for an easy maintenance and 
allow for a better inflow of stormwater. See Figure 3. 

4. The stormwater channel is too small and cannot take the heavy rains from 
the monsoons. Furthermore, those drainage systems attract rats and 
mosquitos as they are never a 100% dry. Auroville has more than 60% 
green areas which is able to absorb and refill the groundwater aquifers. 

The proposed system is not at all suitable for Auroville context. 

It would be better if the stormwater chambers are covered by cast iron 
grills. See Figure 3.  

Fig. 3: Cast Iron grills 
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5. The stormwater channels, abutting the RCC slabs, increases the risk that heavy vehicles may drive on it and could 

break the perforated slab, falling into the channel. Therefore, the initial design should have been kept, with the 
channel on the outside of the right of way, as was proposed initially by JR’s ATDC / CPWD in 2022. See Figure 2 
above. 

Therefore, the system is neither suitable nor feasible because it is based on a wrong design. 

6. The size of the stormwater channel is much too small for the heaviest rainfall recorded on 20th November 2021, 
with 84.2 mm in half an hour. As the pavement is a very hard and smooth concrete slab, no runoff coefficient 
should be accounted for. 

Thus, the rainfall is 3.454 times larger than the chamber’s volume. 

Note that this calculation is only comparing the volume of the rainfall and the volume of the stormwater drain. As 
mentioned in point 2 above, the slope provided in front of Humanscape, being only 0.144% (694% smaller than 
the minimum standard of 1%), this implies that their system will not drain water fast enough, and the road will be 
flooded. See Annex 11.3 on page 28 and 29. 

Other questions arise: 

− Where will these large amounts of water be sent? 

− Will there be in percolation pits along the Crown, at regular intervals, or in a reservoir somewhere? 

− What has been planned for that? 

No study has been communicated for that, though the JR’s ATDC has been asked 3 times to share it. In fact, the 
answer of one of the JR’s ATDC members that the author met occasionally was: 

“No, we will not share anything. When we share things, it goes into endless discussions and we do nothing at the 
end.” 
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5. PRECAST PIECES OF THE NEW DESIGN 
 

5.1 U CHANNELS FOR INFRASTRUCTURE AND PAVEMENT SLABS 
U Channels for stormwater 
540 Nos. of double chamber U channels for the infrastructure have been delivered on the site until today. The first 
ones were delivered on 28th January 2023. Among these pieces, most of them have already been laid: 371 channels 
on the stretch of the Youth Centre, 84 in front of Humanscape and 66 channels on the stretch of Auro Oceanic Resort. 
Has the work already been allocated to a new bidder, or did “SP & Co” lay them, or anyone else? Nevertheless, 
the precasting of all these pieces started long before the publication of the new NIT on 12th Jan. 2022: If these pieces 
would have been cast only once the contract was given, not a single piece could have been cast until now. Isn’t it a 
clear legal violation? 

 
Fig. 4: Double chamber U channel for infrastructure 

 
Fig. 5: 97 Nos. double chamber U channel laid for infrastructure 

The system is not suitable and is a wrong design for the following reasons: 
− The wall thickness of the stormwater channel is not thick enough. Though the reinforcements of this piece are not 

known, it may not withstand the pressure caused by a heavy vehicle, and thus may break. 
− The allowed radius to bend the cable has not been considered. 
− The connection to buildings has not been considered. 
− Animals can enter and damage cables and infrastructure. 
− The system is approximately 10 to 15 times more expensive, compared to the “cut and fill” system, as proposed 

by Dirk Nagelschmidt and Cristo. 

Interlocking slabs 
Thirteen sets of precast RCC slabs (13 rectangular and 26 “triangular”) have been delivered on site till date. These 
slabs are interlocking, and the bars sticking out of the slab are supposed to be inserted in the holes, which are on the 
other sides, below the slab as shown in Figure 7. Note that only 3 hooks have been provided on only one side of the 
slab to lift it with a crane. Thus, these slabs must be lifted vertically, and it will be very difficult to adjust them 
horizontally, especially as the bars need to be inserted in the bottom holes of the other slabs, and in two directions. 

 
Fig. 6: Interlocking precast RCC slab, with bars out 

 
Fig. 7: Interlocking precast RCC slab, with interlocking holes 

This design of the slab, beside the fact that it does not refer to any standard, is not at all practical and it will be 
extremely difficult to adjust the slab for the reason mentioned on the previous page and because the tenon and 
mortice system on the sides must interlock in two directions. Furthermore, even if the bars could be inserted in the 
provisions of the other slab, it will be impossible to cast concrete in these provisions because nothing has been 
provided for that: Once laid, how would these holes, which are below the slabs, be accessible? This implies that 
these bars cannot be concreted at all or not well if the concrete is laid beforehand. This will result in the corrosion of 
these steel bars over time, and the precast RCC slabs will not be linked to each other. Thus, the durability of this road 
will be seriously compromised.  
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Figure 8 shows the “triangular” slabs being delivered on 23rd February. It is worthwhile to note that the slab is lifted 
with a belt, which is passing below the slab. 

Therefore, it will be difficult to pull the belt out once the slab will be laid on the ground, as this slab weigh ~2.5 Tons. 

 
Fig. 8: Interlocking “triangular” slab being delivered 

 
Fig. 9: “Triangular” slabs with badly cast provisions 

Slab finish and cement milk peeling off 
Figure 10 shows the texture of the rectangular slab, with 
the “Agra stone finish”, as prescribed in the tender. 

Beside the fact that this finish is a gross imitation of the 
stone, the undulations (not more than 3 mm) and the 
finish is very smooth. 

Therefore, this road will be very slippery during heavy 
rainfall. 

 
Fig. 10: Rectangular slab with texture 

Figures 11 to 16 show some peeling of the “Agra stone finish” on a slab. This demonstrates that this finish was done 
with a pure cement milk, which was applied on the concrete, once the latter was cast and harden. Therefore, if some 
parts are already peeling off after being under the sun only for a few days, with a mild temperature (~30° C), what 
will happen on these slabs over the years, with temperatures up to 45° C, heavy rain and abrasion of tyres? 

 
Fig. 11: Agra stone finish peeling off 

 
Fig. 12: Agra stone finish peeled off 

 
Fig. 13: Agra stone finish and touch up peeling off 

 
Fig. 14: Agra stone finish peeled off and milk unstuck 

 
Fig. 15: Agra stone finish peeling off, on badly cast concrete 

 
Fig. 16: Cement milk peeling off and unstuck 
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Pieces too young and not cured 
Figure 17 shows a U channel for the stormwater with the 
date of 3rd February 2023. Usually, the general practice 
is to note the casting date on the element once it is hard 
enough to be marked. Therefore, this date must be the 
casting date. However, this stretch of U channels was 
laid on 13th February. 

This means, that this piece was cured less than 10 days, 
as it was delivered on the site a few days before it was 
laid. Several pieces were in the same case. 

Concrete need to be cure for 4 weeks before laying and 
if the curing stops earlier, the strength is greatly reduced. 

 
Fig. 17: U channel cast on 03. 02. 23, but laid on 13. 02. 23 

Therefore, these pieces cannot satisfy the strength required, and their durability will be very low. 

Interlocking system of the slabs not well done 
The system of tenon and mortice, and the steel bars which are supposed to be inserted below the adjacent slab are 
not done properly. Figure 18 shows that the provisions to insert the bars, which are supposed to be centred on the 
mortice (right side of the figure), are too low. 

Therefore, the slab will not interlock, unless the mortice is chipped, which will be very difficult to do by hand on the 
site and may explode the mortice… thus losing the “system”. 

 
Fig. 18: Provisions too low to insert the steel bars of the adjacent slab 

The dimensions of the tenon and mortice were checked with a calliper. Luckily, the tenon was smaller than the 
mortice by a few mm and therefore, there will be no problem to insert it, theoretically. 

However, practically the tenons cannot be inserted in the mortices because the rectangular slabs have to be inserted 
at the same time in two directions which will be rendered impossible because of the steel bars projecting out. 

 
Figure 19: Checking the tenon with a calliper 

 
Fig. 20: Checking the mortice with a calliper 
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5.2 CARBON EMISSIONS OF THE NEW SYSTEM 
The RCC precast slabs of the new design emit 6,630 Tons of CO2, which represents 952% more carbon emissions 
than the road planned with paver blocks, as designed by Dirk and Christian Mabilat in 2012. 

To sequester 6,630 tons of CO2, an additional forest of 32 hectares, planted with 1,000 trees per hectare would 
need 20 years. 

This means that almost the entire area inside the right of way of the crown road should be planted, as this area is 
36.6 hectares. Note that the area of the forest needed for carbon sequestration would depend on the species and 
environmental conditions. 

See Winrock International’s FLR Carbon Storage Calculator and One Tree Planted. 

See the table in Annex 11.2 on carbon emissions, page 27. 

5.3 SLAB DIMENSIONS AND LAYING PATTERN 
The rectangular slabs are in fact slightly trapezoidal to accommodate the curvature of the road (see the dimensions 
in Figure 21). Similarly, the “triangular” slabs have different dimensions, depending on whether they are inside or 
outside. Figure 17 shows the pattern for laying the slabs. However, it is worthwhile to note that the plan below does 
not show any gap between the slabs to accommodate any inaccuracy with their dimensions, and to ease the laying. 

In fact, the thirteen slabs already delivered shows quite a lot of variations: 

− In width, long side: 2560 to 2580 mm instead of 2573 mm. 

− In width, short side: 2530 to 2545 mm instead of 2544 mm 

− In length, long side: 5605 to 5615 mm instead of 5618 mm. 

− In length, short side: 5560 to 5605 mm instead of 5605 mm 

Similarly, the “triangular” slabs show a lot of variations: 3620 mm instead of 3626 mm, 2535 mm instead of 2547 
mm and 2575 mm instead of 2573 mm. 

Therefore, once laid, these slabs will show a lot of irregular gaps. With what will they be filled? 

 
Fig. 21: Layout plan of the interlocking precast RCC slab. 

  

https://winrock.org/flr-calculator/
https://onetreeplanted.org/blogs/stories/how-much-co2-does-tree-absorb
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Fig. 22: Layout of the road with precast RCC slab. 

5.4 WASTAGE OF MATERIALS AND FUNDS 
Besides the fact that the secretary’s ATDC ordered the destruction of 1,423 m of the road, which was in a good 
condition worth 97.78 Lakhs Rs., they have changed their mind and design many times. Some old pavers and kerbs 
were reused for the parking of Solar Kitchen. See section 7.1, on page 19. However, many pavers were damaged 
and lost and many pavers disappeared. Who took the equivalent monetary value of these materials? 

 
Fig. 23: Old paver blocks removed, with quite a few damaged 

 
Fig. 24: Old kerbs removed and all damaged 

The first paver blocks were ordered without checking their quality beforehand. As they were substandard, they were 
rejected. Did they get funds back for this? 

The second batch of paver blocks was marginally better, but still of a lower quality compared to those done by the 
Road Service of 2008. “SP & Co” laid about 200 m of the second batch of paver blocks, but they were so badly laid 
that they had to remove all of them. See Figures 25 and 26 for the work quality and wastage. All these blocks were 
rejected and wasted, incurring again a loss due to technical incapacity of the JR’s ATDC members. 

Finally, the secretary’s ATDC changed their mind again and opted for these precast RCC slabs. The new system does 
not provide kerbs, which is a mistake. Therefore, all kerbs laid by “SP & Co” were removed, a lot of them damaged 
and all of them wasted, because the new design does not need them (Figures 27 & 28 on next page). 

Will the secretary’s ATDC be accountable for all these mistakes? Who will pay for all this? 

 
Fig. 25: Second batch of pavers damaged by the plate rammer 

 
Fig. 26: Second batch of pavers damaged and wasted 
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Fig. 27: New kerbs laid by “SP & Co” removed and wasted 

 
Fig. 28: New kerbs laid, then removed and damaged 

5.5 WORK SEQUENCES AND QUALITY 
Infrastructure pipes have been laid at regular intervals as 
provisions for future infrastructure. 

However, Figure 29 shows that these pipes were not laid 
correctly: this one was too high and thus damaged later 
by the JCB, which also cut a LT cable. 

Figure 30 shows the plain cement concrete which had 
been laid, but they realised that the pipe was still too high.  

Thus, they finally broke everything (Figure 31). Figure 32 
shows that they filled the hole with a lot of concrete and 
also filled the pipe, thus cancelling the provision of 
infrastructure. 

 
Fig. 29: LT cable cut and infrastructure pipe laid too high 

 
Fig. 30: Infrastructure pipe too high and broken by the JCB 

 
Fig. 31: Breaking everything 

What will be done when infrastructure needs to be laid in 
this area to support future development? 

Mistake happen on a construction site. This is usual. 
However, so many mistakes happened and keeps on 
happening on this construction site, this shows once 
more that nothing has been studied, that there are no 
proper working drawings, that the supervision is 
inexistent neither from the CPWD nor the JR’s ATDC, and 
that many things are improvised on site. 

All these things delay the construction, cost a lot of funds, 
for a very bad quality work at the end. 

 
Fig. 32: Concrete filling and pipe filled 
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6. BUILDING THE CROWN ROAD AND LAYING PRECAST PIECES 
 

6.1 BUILDING THE ROAD IN SEPARATE STRETCHES 
The CPWD started building the crown in various 
stretches: 

− The first one was in front of the Youth Centre. They 
build the sub-base, laid some kerbs and pavers that 
they removed later, because of the change of design 
of the ATDC appointed by the secretary. They laid also 
371 U channels in various stretches, as there are 
trees in their way. See Figures 34 and 35, and the 
annex 11.3 on pages 28 and 29. 

− The second stretch was near Auro Oceanic Resort, 
where they only laid 66 channels, leaving a bunch of 
trees which were in their way. See Figure 36. 

− The last stretch was started a few days ago with 84 
channels laid in front of Humanscape. Figure 37 
shows again that the channel cannot be continuous, 
as many trees are in the way, which cannot be cut 
because of the NGT verdict.  

Fig. 33: Stretches of the Crown Road being built 

Building the road in various stretches is not appropriate at all because when the various parts will meet, they might 
face a discrepancy of levels and also a difference of curvature. Furthermore, there might be a serious problem to 
match the various slopes of the stormwater channel, as shown in Annex 11.3 on page 28 and 29, where the slopes 
vary from a minimum of 0.088% to averages of 0.144%, 0.234% and 0.813%, which are up to 694% smaller than 
the minimum standard of 1%. 

One can really wonder how they will manage with these possible issues, when they are not able to lay a pipe for 
infrastructure at the proper level, as mentioned in the previous section 5.5, in the previous page. 

 
Fig. 34: Stretches of the Crown Road, in front of Youth centre 

 
Fig. 35: Stretches of the Crown Road, west of Youth centre 

 
Fig. 36: Stretches of the Crown Road, near Auro Oceanic Resort 

 
Fig. 37: Stretches of the Crown Road, in front of Humanscape 
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6.2 ACCURACY OF LAYING THE U CHANNELS FOR STORMWATER 
The U channels for stormwater which were laid on the stretch of the Youth Centre were relatively well laid, with a 
minimum of level difference from one channel to the other. 

However, the channels which were laid in the last days in front of Humanscape are extremely badly laid, as no one 
cared, neither the CPWD nor members of the ATDC appointed by the secretary. Figures 38 to 42 witness how 
carelessly these channels were laid. 

This odd workmanship happened because the PCC which supports these channels was not well levelled and because 
they did not follow the proper practice, which is to lay these pieces on a fluid cement sand mortar, which is the only 
way to proceed. 

 
Fig. 38: A lot of level difference between channels, in front of Humanscape 

 
Fig. 39: Level difference between channels: 1.4 cm 

 
Fig. 40: Level difference between channels: 1.5 cm 

 
Fig. 41: Level difference between channels: 2.1 cm 

 
Fig. 42: Level difference between channels: 2.1 cm 
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6.3 LAYING THE FIRST SLABS 
The CPWD started to lay “triangular” slabs on 24th 
February 2023, as can be seen in Figure 43. 

These slabs were laid on a thin plastic sheet, which was 
directly laid on the aggregate which had been compacted 
earlier. No layer of sand or cement sand mortar had been 
levelled below the plastic as it should be done for proper 
practices, if a slab has to be laid like this. 

See Figure 52 next page, which shows the texture of the 
aggregates, which were not levelled properly, with gravel 
projecting out here and there. 

 
Fig. 43: Two “triangular” slabs laid on 24th February 2023 

It is very important to note that this method does not follow any standard practice again and cannot give a good 
quality work. The surface of the compacted layer cannot be totally even, cannot be well levelled and cannot be a flat 
surface without bumps. Figures 44 to 51 show how uneven the compacted layers are: the straight edge reveals all 
the bumps and depressions. 

 
Fig. 44: Level crossway of the road: 2.5 cm bump 

 
Fig. 45: Level crossway of the road: 2.8 cm bump 

 
Fig. 46: Level in the length of the road: 1.5 cm bump 

 
Fig. 47: Level in the length of the road: 1.8 cm bump 

 
Fig. 48: Level crossway of the road, on gravel: 2.3 cm bump 

 
Fig. 49: Level crossway of the road, on gravel: levels vary 
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Fig. 50: Level in the length of the road, on gravel: levels vary 

 
Fig. 51: Level in the length of the road, on gravel: levels vary 

Figure 52 shows how the surface of the compacted layer was, below the thin plastic sheet. It is very rough and not 
properly levelled, with sometimes gravel (30-40 mm) projecting out from the layer. Obviously, the slab will not be 
able to push it into the compacted layer.  The thin plastic sheet has no apparent purpose, or was it to hide the messy 
work below, of this uneven level of the compacted layer? Nevertheless, this plastic sheet will make the road totally 
impervious, which is a non-sensical decision for the tropical monsoon climate of Auroville. For this context, paver 
blocks were much more appropriate than precast RCC slabs, laid on a plastic sheet.  

Figure 53 shows how uneven the height between the top of the slabs and the top of the infrastructure channel are: 
up to 2 cm, from 9 to 11 cm. Assuming that the slabs (not yet delivered) covering the channels will have the same 
thickness, there will be steps up to 2 cm. How will they solve this difference of thickness? These steps will be 
dangerous for bicycles if they get of the pavement at that level.  

Another question arises: Could these slabs withstand the load of truck, which may drive on them? As these slabs 
will be 9 or 10 cm, they will have a single mat of steel, which may not be sufficient to withstand such a load. 

 
Fig. 52: Surface of the compacted layer below the plastic 

 
Fig. 53: Difference of thickness between slabs and channels 

Figure 54 shows the difference of level between two adjacent slabs: 1.2 cm, this difference of level cannot be adjusted 
because of the weight to the slabs and because they have not even laid on a bed of sand below it, which would have 
been a better practice. Figure 55 shows the irregular gap between slabs. This gap is because the sides of the slab 
are not at a right angle. How will they fill this gap and how will they manage these problems? 

 
Fig. 54: Difference of level between two slabs 

 
Fig. 55: Irregular gap between slabs 
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7. MISAPPROPRIATION OF GOI FUNDS WITH THE GRANT FOR THE ROAD? 
 

7.1 MATERIALS PURCHASED WITH GoI FUNDS IN 2008, REUSED FOR THE PARKING OF SOLAR KITCHEN 
A lot of the paver blocks from the old road disappeared or were used for projects not funded by the GoI.  

Who took the equivalent monetary value of these materials? 

The secretary’s ATDC created a large parking opposite of Solar Kitchen of ~2,730 m2 (~30 x 91 m) with some of 
these pavers. However, this parking is not in the master plan and it does not appear anywhere on the plans of CPWD: 
see Figure 56 below. 

 
Fig. 56: Plan from CPWD showing the Crown Road and Solar Kitchen, without parking 

 
Fig. 57: Parking on the south side of the Solar Kitchen 

 
Fig. 58: Parking opposite Solar Kitchen, being completed 

This parking was neither in the first contract given to “SP & Co”, nor in the new tender published on 12th January 
2023. 

Therefore, these questions arise: 

− As the old road was financed by the Government of India, was it not necessary to obtain government approval 
beforehand for the destruction of the previous portions of the Crown Road? 

− Was it not necessary to obtain government approval beforehand to reuse these paver blocks for this parking, 
which is not on any plan? 

− Which funds were used to build this parking? Were they from the funds given by the GoI for the Crown 
Road which then might be illegal, or was it funded by Auroville, and if yes from which funds? 
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7.2 MATERIALS PURCHASED WITH GOI FUNDS FOR THE CROWN ROAD, BUT USED IN MATRIMANDIR 
As the Auroville Town Development Council appointed by the secretary changed their design from concrete paver 
blocks to precast reinforced concrete slabs, and also changed the cross section of the road, the materials already 
delivered for the CR could not be used anymore. Therefore, they were rejected for the road. 

 
Fig. 59: Precast concrete slab for CR near the Youth Centre, 

delivered in August 2022 

 
Fig. 60: White dressed granite slabs for road side, 
near the Youth Centre, delivered in August 2022  

The Matrimandir used 75 precast concrete slabs and all the white dressed granite slabs for making a circular pathway 
around the Matrimandir gardens, as shown below. It seems that the Matrimandir team was imposed by the Auroville 
Foundation Office to build this pathway only for the visit of the delegates from G20, who came early February. 
Therefore, it is supposed to be temporary and is supposed to be removed later. 

 
Fig. 61: Precast slabs and all granite slabs used at Matrimandir 

 
Fig. 62: 75 precast slabs and all white granite slabs used 

However, this prompts the following questions: 

− Was there any government approval first which authorised using materials funded by the Government of 
India (GoI) to build the Crown Road for a non-governmental project, even temporary? 

Temporary things in Auroville can last 50 years. 

− Which funds were used to create this pathway? Was the Matrimandir obliged by the Auroville Foundation 
office to pay for this work, or were the funds taken from the grant for the crown road, given by the GoI? 
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8. CROWN ROAD AT DARKALI 
 
The crown road is passing through Darkali park, which has been developed by the stewards for more than 35 years. 
Though a line of force is planned in this area, they have developed this park in agreement with Roger anger and asked 
for guidance from the various town planning groups. See Annex 11.4, pages 30 and 31. However, the narrative given 
by the Auroville foundation, which is that “They have planted willingly trees on the crown to block it and that they 
refuse to let the crown road pass through Darkali” is totally false, as proven by the following sections. 

8.1 CHANGE OF LOCATION OF THE CROWN ROAD OVER THE YEARS. 
Around 1995, the town planning office located the crown road about 40 m out of the present location: see Figure 63 
for the plan of ~1995 below, compared to the plan of 2023 of Figure 64. The bathroom of Darkali, is either inside or 
outside of the road on these plans. Obviously, the bathroom did not move, but the location of the road changed. 

The present JR’s ATDC and the AVFO do not want to acknowledge this and therefore their false narratives. 

 
Fig. 63: Plan from the town planning office of ~1995 

 
Fig. 64: Location of the crown road in 2023 

8.2 DEVELOPMENT OF DARKALI IN COORDINATION WITH TOWN PLANNING OFFICES 
The stewards of Darkali first started integrating the crown road through Darkali over 25 years ago when the then 
Auroville Development group showed where the alignment was projected. At that time, the stewards planted trees 
outside of the proposed crown road and they did not further develop the area of the road. Therefore, no trees were 
subsequently planted but the area was protected. Nevertheless, regeneration happened and trees grew by themselves 
in that area. 

In the recent years, the alignment of the road changed, and the crown road moved into an area that had been actively 
managed not only with tree planting but also extensive soil and water conservation. This land development happened 
along a natural canyon, channelling a lot of water from the Matrimandir watershed. This area is directly adjacent to 
the old alignment given around 1995.  

The stewards had an agreement with Roger Anger for officially enlarging the boundaries of the park. This was done 
through emails with Jacques Train, and it was formalised by a letter signed by Toby, Lalit an Ponnusamy on 9th April 
1999, showing the revised plan. See Annex 11.4, on page 30 and 31. 

It is important to mention that the stewards of Darkali had the support of the then l’Avenir, as their members wrote: 
“(…) At that time we will consult and involve you and/or the stewards of Darkali in the design process to ensure 
that the integrity of the forest is maintained. On behalf of l’Avenir d’Auroville, we would also like to take this 
opportunity to thank you for creating and maintaining such a valuable asset in the city that the future generations 
will surely enjoy and value.” 

Therefore, the false narrative of the JR’s ATDC and the AVFO is hypocritical. 
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8.3 CROWN ROAD LOCATED ON A VERY SENSITIVE ECOSYSTEM 
The JR’s ATDC marked the crown road in Darkali and it appears that the road is now going into the canyon which 
channels a lot of water from the watershed above to Irumbai. Figures 65 and 66 show the same water body, in the 
dry season and during the monsoon. They probably plan to fill it, instead of making a bridge of ~30 m. Figure 66 
shows the marking by the JR’s ATDC with a right of way of 30 m, which has no justification, other than to create 
more confusion. See next section. 

Figures 67 to 72 show that the road will travel slightly diagonally through the canyon, thus disturbing or blocking the 
water flow. Where will all the rainfall that this canyon is harvesting go? 

 
Fig. 65: Crown road marked by JR’s ATDC in a water body 

 
Fig. 66: Same water body in the monsoon time 

 
Fig. 67: Road marked by JR’s ATDC near the dam of the canyon 

 
Fig. 68: Same water body with the dam in the monsoon time 

 
Fig. 69: Road marked by JR’s ATDC at the edge of the dam 

 
Fig. 70: Road marked by JR’s ATDC in the centre of the canyon 

 
Fig. 71: Road marked by JR’s ATDC on the side of the canyon 

 
Fig. 72: Road marked by JR’s ATDC near the dam of the canyon 

Note that the lines showing the road are indicative because the road will be at a different level. As the road will be 
higher than the actual level of the canyon, the canyon will probably be filled with slope at 45°, as it is usually done, 
thus blocking a great part of the canyon and disrupting the water flow. 

Therefore, this road must not be located as planned, but rather following the proposal on next page.  
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8.4 ALTERNATIVE PROPOSAL FROM DARKALI 
Due to the negative environmental impact of the location of the road in the canyon, the stewards of Darkali did an 
alternative proposal in December 2021. They proposed to shift the road at the edge of the canyon, thus preserving 
it, as showed in Figure 73 below. 

Note that they mentioned that the road was still in the 30 m wide right of way, as l’Avenir marked both the width of 
the final right of way (RoW) of 16.7 m which had been decided, and the proposed width of the RoW of 30 m from 
the first draft of the Master Plan of 1999. What is this 30 m wide right of way? 

This proposal shows three things: 
1. That between 1995 and 2023, the location of the crown road moved inward by around 40 m. 
2. The JR’s ATDC either did not know what they did or love to add confusion, or both things. 
3. The stewards showed their willingness to accommodate the road at an environmentally sound location. 

Nevertheless, l’Avenir and the AVFO rejected this proposal and enforced the road to be in the canyon. 

 
Fig. 73: Plan of the alternative proposal made the stewards of Darkali in December 2021 

Another component of the false narrative given by the AVFO is that the stewards of Darkali refused the passing of this 
road through Darkali. This is again wrong as the stewards cleared the bushes and trees which grew along the road 
to visualise where the road could be, as shown in Figures 74 and 75. 

 
Fig. 74: Clearance of trees on the alternative road proposal 

 
Fig. 75: Alternative road proposal cleared of trees 
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9. PRIVATE LANDS ON THE CROWN ROAD 
 
Figure 76 shows that there are 19.11 acres of private lands on the crown road, especially on the stretch which is 
supposed to be completed by 1st April 2023. Therefore, these questions arise: 

− Does the AVFO has funds to purchase these lands before the 1st April 2023? 
− How can the secretary’s ATDC and the AVFO build the road on private land with government funds? 

 
Fig. 76: Private and temple lands on crown road in 2023 

Note the blue stretch of land on the road, west of Michael Bonke’s land: The AVFO has bought only this small strip 
of land which is on the road, but did not buy the entire plot. Therefore, this will add value to the plot of the private 
land, as it is now accessible by the crown road. Thus, its value will increase many folds and will open the door to 
private real estate developers or will make it impossible to buy this land later on. 

The JR’s ATDC and the AVFO try to build the crown road at any cost, which will lead private parties to develop their 
land along the crown because the road will give them a public access. Therefore, they will never sell these lands to 
Auroville. See the email from the JR’s ATDC to the Land Board in Annex 11.5, page 32. 

Note that Michael Bonke is a friend of Auroville and therefore, he did not object for the road to pass through his land, 
which is very kind of him. Nevertheless, this raises another question: 

Is it legal to use government funds to build a road of public interest on a private land? 
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10. CROWN ROAD STUDY DONE IN 2012 BY DIRK AND CRISTO 
 
Mr. Dirk Nagelschmidt, a German road engineer and Mr. Christian Mabilat (Cristo), a French road engineer who did 
an excellent study of the crown road in 2012, at the request of the then ATDC group. For more information on this 
report, please follow this link: 2012 Report on Crown Road.  

Why did the secretary’s ATDC not use this report for building the crown road? 

The first thing that Dirk and Cristo did was to check previous data for the crown, especially its radius, as the latter 
changed several times and because of mistakes in the topographic surveys and measurements on site. 

This report emphasized the environmental aspects, as the Crown Road crosses sensitive areas such as canyons, 
water recharge areas and the Bliss and Darkali Forests. It was mentioned that in some parts, special trees would have 
to be identified and would need to be integrated into the design of the Crown. Dirk mentioned that some areas on the 
Crown had clay formations, and therefore did not fulfil geotechnical requirements for percolation. Regarding this issue 
he wrote: “Those areas are found near Darkali, Aurodam and Centre Field. The rainwater from these areas need to 
be channelled to areas where there is a good percolation or to existing canyons.” 

 
Fig. 77: Infiltration map of Auroville from Dirk’s report  

The basic information given in this excellent study done by Dirk is reported here to contrast with the absence of study, 
lack of environmental concern, inexistence of stormwater management and many other technical details which have 
not been done by the secretary’s ATDC. In reference to Bliss and Darkali Forests, when Dirk mentioned that “in some 
parts, special trees would have to be identified and would need to be integrated into the design of the crown”, the 
AVFO and the secretary’s ATDC bulldozed everything, without proper survey or notice. 

The above statement is made because the ATDC selected by the Residents Assembly and the author asked, already 
from July 2022, the secretary’s ATDC to provide proper plans, study and survey of the Crown Road. However, the 
JR’s ATDC never did. If they had ever done such a study, why would they not share it? 
What do they have to hide? 

Isn’t Auroville supposed to be a place of transparency and collaboration, towards “a living embodiment of an actual 
Human Unity”? 

Didn’t the Mother write in 1954 this sentence in the “Dream”? 

“In short, it would be a place where human relationships, which are normally based almost exclusively on 
competition and strife, would be replaced by relationships of emulation in doing well, of collaboration and real 
brotherhood.” 

Why won’t the AVFO and secretary’s ATDC abide by this sentence of the Dream?  

https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B6HQQy2nj0zUUFE0MnVpYlNuWkU/view?usp=sharing&resourcekey=0-yuFfchonQwGsJAmgSOT71w


- 26 - 

11. ANNEXES 
 

11.1 PAGE COVER OF THE NEW NOTICE INVITING TENDER FROM CPWD 
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11.2 COMPARATIVE CARBON EMISSIONS FOR THE PAVEMENT OF THE CROWN ROAD 
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11.3 SLOPE SURVEY OF THE ROAD 
The slope of the crown road was surveyed with a water level (tube level) of 15 m, in three portions of the road being 
built: 

− Youth Centre stretch: from east to west. U channels for the infrastructure were laid on some parts and on others 
there were only the plain cement concrete bases. The parts which were built were not continuous as some trees 
were still on the line of the infrastructure channel, and some areas were not levelled, as shown in Figures 78 to 
83 below. 
This slope is only 0.234%, which is 427% smaller than the minimum standard of 1%. 

− Near Auro Oceanic resort: 66 U channels were laid. In this area, the slope was better with 0.813%. 
Nevertheless, this slope is still 123% lower than to the minimum requirement of 1%. 

− In front of Humanscape: 84 U channels were laid. There, the slope was the worse with a minimum of 0.088% and 
an average of 0.144% on 97 m. 
Therefore, this slope is 694% smaller than the minimum standard of 1%. 

 
Fig. 78: Plain concrete (PCC) base and tree on the way at YC 

 
Fig. 79: U channel, tree on the way, side not levelled at YC 

 
Fig. 80: U channel and tree on the way at Youth Centre 

 
Fig. 81: U channel, PCC base & tree in between at Youth Centre 

 
Fig. 82: U channel and trees on the way near Auro Oceanic 

 
Fig. 83: U channel and tree on the way in front of Humanscape. 
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Fig. 84: Table of the survey 
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11.4 LETTER AND MAP FROM L’AVENIR FOR THE EXTENSION OF DARKALI 
Noting the acknowledgment of the work done by the stewards: “On behalf of l’Avenir d’Auroville, we would also like 
to take this opportunity to thank you for creating and maintaining such a valuable asset in the city that the future 
generations will surely enjoy and value”. 
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11.5 LETTER FROM THE JR’S ATDC TO LAND BOARD TO BUY LANDS 
This letter was written by the JR’s ATDC on 15th September 2021, asking the Land Board to buy the private lands 
which were on the crown road. To date, none of these lands have been purchased. 

Besides the request to buy these lands, the JR’s ATDC mentions “some land owners are willing, as a gesture of 
goodwill, to consent with the road over their lands”. This shows that the JR’s ATDC does not realise that building 
this road on private land is first not legal as the funds are from the GoI, and second that this road will give a public 
access to their land. Therefore, private owners will never sell their lands to Auroville, as they will develop these 
lands for themselves. 
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